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At the edge of the northern Black Hills in Lawrence County is Spearfish, South Dakota.
From the mouth of nearby scenic Spearfish Canyon flows Spearfish Creek, that cuts
through the town and upon whose banks pioneers founded the city. The town is nicknamed
the Queen City, because the hills surrounding three sides simulate a crown. These
geological noints are: Lookout Peak to the east: Crow Peak to the west: and

Spearfish Mountain to the south. Amidst this natural splendor is the Spearfish His-
toric Commercial District.

The district consists of twenty-four separate structures in the downtown core. It
includes both sides of the 600 block and the corner lots on the 500 block of iain Street,
both sides of the 100 block of West I1linois, and two lots of the southwest corner of
the 700 block on Fifth Street. The district layout resembles an inverted “L" in which
all buildings face unusually wide streets--a traditional characteristic of Spearfish.

The Spearfish Commercial District reflects a turn of the century business area. Six-
teen of the twenty-four buildings were constructed prior to 1911, and only four since
1939. The physical scale is equally divided between one and two story structures, a
majority of which are adjoining. The facades are covered with a variety of materials
including brick, stucco, clapboard, and sandstone. The latter material is the most
interesting, since it was quarried from the Spearfish formation located in the sur-
rounding hills. Colorfully called Sundance Sandstone, this indigenous product adds
an important visual element to the district.

Some of the important buildings are:

612-630 Main (1990): The two story, Mathew's Opera House Block, is the largest build-
ing in the district, stretching about half the length of the block. Its facing con-
sists of gray colored brick and masonry materials. At the southern end of the
structure, just above the flat roofline, a peaked roof appears that houses the opera
house. A stamp metal cornice features brackets and dentils, and below this, lapped and
indented brick embellishments are seen. Three types of surrounds adorn the window
heads: flat, round arched, and arch stepped. String course, with interruptions by
pilasters at intervals, forms the window sills. The majority of second story windows
are rectangular in shape and about four feet high and two feet wide. Although not

pure in style, the structure design suggests an Italian Renaissance building.

701 Fifth Street (1893): The Lown Building is the best period structure in the dis-
trict because it remains unspoiled by modern additions and also because of its crea-
tive use of the native sandstone. A main feature of the building is an engaged §econd
story rectangular tower with stone balustrade with an Egyptian column as _supporting
device from the ground. The flat roofline features cresting that resembles chimney
stacks. Round edged stone acting as dentils adorn the cornice line and intricate
designed stone work used on the front facade. Radiating voussoirs and flat surrounds
of cut stone form the window surrounds along with lugsills. The store front d1sp]ays
paneled wood below the windows, stained glass, double door with sidelights and light
above. Pilasters of rough and smooth stone divides the rectangular windows of the
structure.
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544 Main (1895): The John Wolzmuth Building is a two story cut sandstone structures. It
is not of any particular style but the use of the sandstone and various embellishments
creates an attractive appearance. This flat roofed building features a corbel table
below the eaves along with rectangular shaped cresting spaced at various intervals. A
small portion of the front has had some modernization. Offset to the right is a small
period door leading to the upstairs. On the left side, two round arched entries appear
with radiating sandstone. The other openings have flat and lugsills for surrounds.

Other principle buildings include:

604-608 Main (1900): The Lown Building is a two story cut sandstone structure. It
remains a good period structure with a few alterations on the first floor. Some of
its architectural features are corbeling, cresting, lugsills, and pilasters.

605 Main (1900): This two story Italianate structure uses a light colored brick as
its facing. A bracketed-dentilated stamp metal cornice appears along with brick de-
signs. The building also displays quoins, pilasters, and string course.

629 and 631 Main: These identical buildings are one story with native sandstone used
for their facing. The cornice design is grooved sandstone aléong with brackets at the
corners of the building that are extensions of pilasters.

122 Vest I1linois (1894): The 0dd Fellows building is a two story cut sandstone
structure. The building features a dentilated and bracketed cornice along with seg-
mental surrounds and keystones.
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Spearfish, South Dakota, Tike many Black Hills' communities, had its origins in the 1876
gold rush. Alfred Gay and J.E. Smith, townsite speculators, founded and platted a town
on March 29 along the banks of Spearfish Creek. Their site was surrounded by mountains
on three sides and appeared to be an ideal place for commercial and community develop-
ment.

Yet many problems deterred the growtnh of the city for the next twenty years. Indians
threatened its existence in the early months as the Sioux made their last major assault
on white encroachmnt of the Paha Sapa. In 1878 the federal government reduced the
geographical size of the town from 640 to 320 acres because of insufficient population.
By 1890 fewer than 700 people resided in Spearfish but extension of the Burlington
Railroad from Deadwood encouraged optimism. Local officials hoped to establish a gold
processing center in Spearfish but the boom period for that industry was in decline

and nothing came of it. Furthermore, the Burlington tracks washed out and were never
rebuilt. Despite these failures and disappointments, Spearfish failed to die--a testi-
mony to its endurance as other towns succumbed to lesser threats than these.

The natural setting played a prominent role in Spearfish's success. The unpolluted

and swift flowing creek attracted a federal fish hatchery in 1899. The Homestake Mining
Company constructed a hydroelectric plant in 1911. The unspoiled area also held tourist
appeal which local promoters exploited. Tourism received a major impetus in 1938 when
Joseph Heir, "world famous Christus portrayer," selected Spearfish as the site for his
PASSION PLAY. By 1960 around five million people had attended the show. At the same
time, excellent nearby grasslands attracted ranchers who used Spearfish as their supply
center.

The increased tempo in business activity around the turn of the century is evident in

the construction dates of the buildings. Thirteen structures were built between 1899-
1910 with nine of these in 1899 or 1900. Six are outstanding period structures that
reflect the significant commercial development of the city. Therefore, the area manifests
a sense of time and place so important to the quality of a district.

The commercial architecture constitutes a vital aspect of the Spearfish district. Window
surrounds, cornices, parapets, and building materials are characteristically from the
Victorian Period. The use of sundance sandstone is the most important element in the
district and provides a unique flavor to the town. The most impressive single structure,
however, is the Matthews Opera House Block which is faced with gray brick. Its imposing
facade combines with other stone structures to create a homogeneous streetscape. There
is no doubt that these buildings and elements create an excellent example of an early
twentieth century commercial area in South Dakota.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
The southarn boundary of Spearfish Commercial District starts at the junction of
Hudson and Hain Streets and includes the buildings on the southwest and southeast
corners. From this point it runs north along the 600 block of Main Street and includes
all buildings that face the street. (603-645 HMain and 604-644 ilain) At the junc-
tion of West I1linois Street and Main, the Tine turns west along I1linois. This
ipc]udes 701 #Hain w%}ich fr:'ont opening sets at an angle to the'junction. The 1ine
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with Fifth Street. At this point it runs north along the Lown pui]ding (701 5th)
property line and adjacent building (703 5th). Thus, the district resembles an
inverted “L".



